THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

RECEIVED

Jun 10 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Greenville County Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

---

App. Case No. 2024-000090

---

David Quintan Jones, #00391227,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER PURSUANT TO *WHITE v. STATE***

---

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH, III  
LAUREN CAROLE HOBBS

WGY Law  
308 West Stone Avenue  
Greenville, South Carolina 29609  
(864) 331-1612 | F: 864-271-0711

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

##

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE VIDEO RECORDING OF THE CHILD'S FORENSIC INTERVIEW WHEN THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES FAILED TO ESTABLISH PARTICULARIZED GUARANTEES OF TRUSTWORTHINESS, AS REQUIRED BY S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-23-175.**
  
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF A "BLIND" EXPERT WITNESS IN THE FIELD OF "CHILD SEX ABUSE DYNAMICS" IN LIGHT OF THE EXPERT'S INESCAPABLE BIAS AS THE CEO OF THE JULIE VALENTINE CENTER AND WHEN THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 702, SCRE WERE NOT MET.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In May 2019, Petitioner David Quintan Jones was arrested on five charges of first-degree criminal sexual conduct (victim under the age of eleven) ("CSC") of his biological daughter and was later indicted by the Greenville County Grand Jury. (App. pp. 515–527). He was tried by jury before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely on June 5th through 8th, 2023. The jury ultimately found him guilty on all charges. (App. p. 478, line 7—p. 479, line 15). Judge Gravely imposed a concurrent sentence of forty-five (45) years on each charge with 1496 days credit for time-served. (App. p. 490, lines 19-23; pp. 528–537).

On June 16th, 2023, Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals (*State v. David Quintan Jones*, App. Case No. 2023-000987). On June 21st, 2023, Petitioner served the Notice of Appeal upon the State by hand delivery and filed a copy with the Greenville County Clerk of Court. On June 22, 2023, the appeal was dismissed pursuant to Rule 203(b)(2), SCACR for service of the Notice of Appeal upon the State outside of the ten day time frame. Petitioner's subsequent motion to reinstate was denied and the Remittitur was issued on September 7, 2023.

Petitioner through Counsel filed a post-conviction relief application on July 31, 2023 seeking a belated direct appeal pursuant to *White v. State*, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974) on the basis that his appellate rights were not knowingly, intelligently, or voluntarily waived. (App. pp. 538–546). After conferring with Counsel for Respondent, Assistant Attorney General William Joseph Maye, a consent order granting the PCR application for a belated direct appeal was issued by the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse on January 17, 2024. (App. pp. 547–548). A notice of appeal was accordingly filed with this Court on January 19, 2024. This appeal follows and a Petition for Writ of Certiorari accompanies this Brief pursuant to Rule 243(i)(1), SCACR.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The charges arose following allegations of sexual abuse made by Petitioner's eight-year-old daughter ("Child"). Her accusations happened to occur during a particularly stressful time for the entire family; their home had burned down<sup>1</sup> just two weeks before on April 1, 2019.<sup>2</sup> They lost everything in the fire and were living in close quarters at a hotel and later with Child's disabled grandparents. (App. p. 101, line 2; pp. 287–288; p. 378, line 25—p. 379, line 7; p. 387). Child had first told her brother, "ZJ", that she was being touched in her private area but did not get into specifics or identify the perpetrator. (App. p. 192; p. 157, line 5—p. 158 line 14). ZJ, who was fifteen years old by the time of trial, testified his reaction to Child's disclosure was shock and disbelief. (App. p. 148, line 1; p. 157, lines 12-17).

On April 13, 2019, at ZJ's urging, Child told their mother, Marita Jones (Murray) about the abuse. (App. pp. 192–193; pp. 289–291). Marita did not call police at that time or even confront Petitioner. (App. pp. 291–292). She rather made an early Monday morning appointment with their pediatrician under the guise of complaints with Child's lymph nodes, ears, tonsils, and possible UTI related genital pain. (App. p. 118, lines 10-13; p. 117, lines 17-22; p. 121, lines 9-11; pp. 291–292). Dr. Erin Bhatia testified that Marita eventually revealed during the appointment that she was

---

<sup>1</sup> The cause of the fire may have been electrical, but the specific cause could not be determined. (App. p. 319). The insurance company did pay out on the claim to Marita as the house and insurance was in her name. (App. p. 319).

<sup>2</sup> Child made the allegations also during a time of conflict in his marriage over his prior affairs with other women. (App. p. 376–377; pp. 386–391). At trial, his wife Marita dismissed any suggestion that the recent events or the affairs, in particular, could have contributed to Child bringing this case against her father. (App. pp. 313–314; pp. 317–319). However, the tension in their marriage had recently resurfaced because a woman from his past had messaged Petitioner online. (App. p. 386). With palpable remorse and guilt, Petitioner testified about the impact their marriage issues and arguments had on their children and how their view of him as a father changed during this time. (App. p. 386; p. 391).

really there to see if the doctor could tell whether Child was indeed being sexually abused. (App. p. 120, lines 13-22; p. 119, lines 5-25; pp. 291–292; p. 294). As a pediatrician, Dr. Bhatia was not specialized in this area to make such a determination, though she saw no indication of abuse or anything abnormal from her cursory look of Child’s genitals. (App. pp. 114–115; p. 125, lines 5-16; p. 128, lines 8-14; p. 129, lines 2-4). But also as a pediatrician, Dr. Bhatia is a mandated reporter, and she was ultimately the one who reported Child’s disclosure of sexual abuse to Department of Social Services (DSS) and authorities. (App. p. 129, lines 5-11; p. 136, lines 14-20; p. 120, line 23—p. 121, line 8; p. 125, line 25—p. 126, line 4). At trial, Marita confirmed Dr. Bhatia’s testimony as to why she made a doctor’s appointment and that she did not call authorities or even confront her husband after Child’s disclosure. (App. pp. 291–292; p. 294). Marita also did not call police after the appointment either, and even though Dr. Bhatia explained that her office was going to report this, Marita did not realize authorities would be called until later on that afternoon when they called her. (App. p. 294, line 19—p. 295, line 3).

At around 4:30 pm that same day, DSS Investigator Dyneshia Kilgore arranged a meeting with the family and Greenville County investigators at the site of the former family home to begin their respective investigations. (App. p. 138; p. 295). Up until that point, Child had not disclosed the identity of the person abusing her. (App. p. 141, lines 14-20; p. 251; State's Ex. 22). Upon the family’s arrival, Greenville County Investigator Shannon McHale first took Child aside to speak with her away from her parents and her brother, ZJ. (App. p. 140, line 20—p. 141, line 10; pp. 249–250). Child did not want to talk about it or reveal the perpetrator's identity because she felt uncomfortable getting anyone in trouble, and so she ultimately lied about a boy on the bus abusing her. (App. p. 195; p. 202; p. 253; p. 257; State’s Ex. 22). At Investigator McHale's encouragement, she shortly thereafter gave more specific information, including the identity of the perpetrator.

(App. pp. 253–254). Child also disclosed to Investigator Kilgore that she had been abused for the last three years approximately. (App. p. 144, lines 15-20; pp. 194–195; p. 198). No arrest was made at that time and the family was permitted to leave together; but as part of DSS’s safety plan, Petitioner was to stay elsewhere and would not have contact with either child. (App. p. 252; pp. 256–257; p. 257; pp. 301–302; State's Ex. 22). That day was ultimately the last day Petitioner had any contact with his daughter.

The DSS safety plan did not forbid the family from still attending the same church, and days later on Easter Sunday, Petitioner gave a plastic Easter egg to ZJ when they passed one another in church. (App. p. 270; pp. 298–299). ZJ testified that the Easter egg contained candy; Investigator McHale however, stated that there was also a note inside instructing ZJ to check his school email. (App. p. 161; pp. 270–271, p. 299). Regardless, Marita testified she deleted the email and did not alert DSS or police. (App. p. 300; p. 272, lines 3-7). According to Marita's recollection at trial, Petitioner’s email instructed ZJ to have his sister “tell them it was all a dream and that she’s not in trouble. Save me.” (App. p. 300).<sup>3</sup> Marita explained that she deleted the email because Petitioner was not supposed to be talking to ZJ pursuant to the DSS safety plan. (App. p. 300).

Interestingly, however, Marita kept in communication with Petitioner and even went out to dinner and met him at Barnes and Noble—it was years earlier at a Barnes and Noble in the Christian books section where the couple first met and fell in love. (App. pp. 302–303; p. 279).

---

<sup>3</sup> Petitioner did not deny giving ZJ the Easter egg and note. He testified he had called ZJ while Marita was with him and gave it to him when they met up at the church and hugged one another. (App. p. 387). Additionally, Marita’s recollection of the email’s contents differs from Petitioner’s: “On the email to [ZJ] I put greetings. I told him to tell the truth. I said, tell your sister to stop lying on daddy. And I told him to make sure he bring everything out in the open.” (App. p. 387, line 22–p. 388, line 5). Petitioner explained that he simply wanted ZJ to tell the truth, that he did not do this. (App. p. 388).

Marita testified that while sitting on a park bench outside of the bookstore, Petitioner guessed that Child may have learned some sexual things from a comic book he had lying around. (App. p. 305). Petitioner also said he did not do this, but according to Marita, God told him he needed to confess to an incident where he slept naked and woke up to find Child with her mouth on his penis. (App. pp. 304–305). Marita further testified that Petitioner supposedly said he peed in Child’s mouth when this happened out of surprise and that he "whipped her" for this behavior. (App. pp. 304–305). However, Child had no bruising from any such whipping, and Marita kept in contact with him despite her knowledge of this supposed incident, which continued even after his arrest through numerous jail calls and emails/letters. (App. p. 305, p. 307–308; State’s Ex. 29–30). While listening to her jail calls to him on the witness stand, Marita acknowledged her puzzling support for her husband at that time and her encouragement to: “Don’t break, we’re going to stick together” in spite of what he was accused of. (App. p. 309–311; State’s Ex. 29–30). Marita stated that her behavior stemmed from love, shock, stupidity, her faith in God, and that: “I’m trying to protect everybody.” (App. pp. 309–311). Marita also testified that prior to Child's disclosure, she had no concern that Child was being abused by Petitioner. (App. p. 286).

A forensic interview was conducted on May 1, 2019 at the Julie Valentine Center. (App. p. 269). During her interview, Child made detailed allegations against Petitioner for several kinds of sexual abuse, including groping, digital penetration, and oral, vaginal, and anal sex. (State’s Ex. 1, Ex. 31).<sup>4</sup> Her interview differs widely from the initial allegations she made as well as her trial testimony. The interview was recorded and was admitted into evidence at trial over Defense

---

<sup>4</sup> State’s Ex. 1 comprises the unredacted video recording of the forensic interview and State’s Ex. 31 is the redacted version played for the jury. (App. p. 34; p. 364). *See infra* pp. 18–23 herein.

Counsel's objections. (State's Ex. 1, Ex. 31; App. p. 72, line 15—p. 73, line 8; p. 75, lines 24-25; p. 76, lines 2-7).

Regarding the specifics of Child's allegations, the "Man Cave" became a central component of the State's case against Petitioner as the primary location for the alleged abuse. The "Man Cave" is a nickname given to his home office for his security business, which had several large contracts at the time of the allegations, including a security contract with his HOA. (App. p. 392). The Man Cave housed a lot of electronics, including his and the children's computers, as well as video games, board games, and a large collection of various books and comic books. (App. p. 395). The Man Cave was central part of the family's home life. The children started home schooling<sup>5</sup> in approximately 2018 and did their respective online school programs in that room. (App. p. 285). Petitioner worked alongside his children at his security business and oversaw their online schooling when Marita was at work. (App. p. 164, line 25—p. 165, line 2; p. 205; p. 150, lines 5-18; p. 151, lines 1-3, lines 13-17; p. 285, lines 14-18). Marita and the children all testified that this is also where they watched movies, played video games and other games, had family nights, and overall, they enjoyed doing a lot of things in there as a family. (App. p. 285; lines 14-18; p. 150, lines 16-18, lines 23-25; p. 164, lines 18-24; p. 191; p. 205). Indeed, despite the abuse she said to have endured in this room, Child described the Man Cave with enthusiasm and affection during her forensic interview and as well as at trial:<sup>6</sup> "So the Man Cave is this really cool room.

---

<sup>5</sup> The decision to home school their children came about because Child was first bullied in school, but then later became the bully to other children. (State's Ex. 27-28). The family also have a strong Christian faith.

<sup>6</sup> Child was twelve years old at the time of trial. (App. p. 176, line 3).

There were books, drawing, games, there was a lot of stuff you can just do in there. We usually just hang out in there and play games and such”. (App. p. 182, lines 20-25; p. 191; p. 205). Although there was much testimony regarding how much time the siblings spent together playing video games in particular, she claimed that the privilege to play video games in the Man Cave was a grooming tactic Petitioner used to abuse her. Specifically, that in order to play video games, she would have to engage in sexual activity with Petitioner (App. p. 191).

Referring to him as "David", Child went on to testify that he abused her by having her perform oral sex on him and vice versa, and putting his penis and fingers inside her vagina (her “cauliflower”) and her “butt” using Vaseline. (App. pp. 187–189; p. 191, line 24—p. 192, line 4; p. 205). When asked why she referred to her father as "David", Child flippantly explained it was because: “I have a different dad now, so.”<sup>7</sup> (App. p. 185, lines 8-13; p. 183, lines 4-7, lines 20-24; p. 204).

The alleged abuse occurred when her mother would be at work or out with friends somewhere and ZJ would be in his room or playing with friends. (App. p. 185, lines 15-22; p. 189). Child also stated Petitioner abused her in the Man Cave with the door shut, as well as in her parents' bedroom, the closet, and in her bedroom. (App. p. 186, line 25—p. 187, line 3, lines 16-20; p. 190). Being in the home virtually all day with Petitioner and Child, ZJ did not account for any of the instances that Child referred to happening in these rooms. In fact, ZJ testified twice that he could not remember any time where his sister and his father were ever alone together. (App. p. 154, lines 21-25). It was only when pressed further on direct examination that ZJ suddenly remembered them being alone in the Man Cave with the door shut, emitting “stepping” and "rattling" like sounds. (App. p. 155, lines 1-19). ZJ claimed the same scenario and similar noises occurred while living

---

<sup>7</sup> Referring to her stepfather.

with his grandparents after the fire. (App. p. 155, lines 1-19; p. 156, line 20—p. 157, line 4). This scenario at the grandparents' house is even more peculiar given that both Marita's parents were home all day due to her father's disability, in particular, as well as the "tight quarters" size of their house. (App. p. 163, lines 13-16; p. 404).

Child also testified that she remembered telling Investigator McHale that it was a boy on the bus who had been touching her, and State's Ex. 22 was introduced where she was said to be heard crying and saying: "I need to save my daddy." (App. p. 197, State's Ex. 22). Child also acknowledged that when initially speaking with her investigators, she told them that the abuse didn't happen. (App. p. 206). She explained she did not want to tell Investigator McHale or anyone else previously because she did not want her father to go to jail. (App. pp. 197–198). Her awareness at the age of just eight years old that what Petitioner was doing to her was not only abuse, but also a crime that would put him in jail flies in the face of other testimony and evidence in the record. For instance, Child acknowledged telling Investigator McHale that same day that she did not know that having sex with her father and while she was only eight years old was "bad". (App. p. 198, lines 12-23). Likewise, Marita testified that it took Child over a year after this happened to realize that what was done to her was wrong. (App. p. 310). Both parents also spoke of Child's naivety, and it is established that they raised their children in a sheltered, religious environment. It is also not as though Petitioner was alleged to have instilled in her a sense of guilt, fear, or betrayal that sending him to jail would be as a way to keep her quiet.

By the time of trial, Child had attempted suicide because she was "tired of all of it" and had been cutting herself to "punish" herself for it and for telling. (App. pp. 199–200). The impact these events had on Child, irrespective of their truth, is truly sad. Notwithstanding the emotional

aftermath of these events and despite the addition of her stepfather to the family, Child testified that she still considered Petitioner to be her father. (App. p. 183, lines 5-11).

Child underwent a chronic sexual abuse exam performed by Dr. Mary Ann Croswell of Prisma Health on April 24, 2019. (App. pp. 214–215). Dr. Croswell, who has extensive experience in the “capacity as a child abuse pediatrician”, testified for the State as an expert witness<sup>8</sup> in the field of pediatric child sexual abuse. (App. pp. 209–213). Dr. Croswell explained that a chronic sexual abuse exam is an examination that along with a head-to-toe examination and lab work, thoroughly examines the genital area with use of colposcope, a powerful light and magnification system for photo documentation. (App. pp. 214–215; 216–217; p. 219). Child would not identify to Dr. Croswell the person sexually abusing her when her mother was out the room. (App. p. 221, lines 14-25). Child did not feel comfortable speaking about the topic without her mother with her and only disclosed that she was indeed the victim of abuse and by whom once her mother returned to the room. (App. p. 221, line 19—p. 222, line 17; p. 227, line 24—p. 228, line 3). Dr. Croswell testified that it was very important to learn the specific type of suspected sexual trauma to guide her during the genitals examination and speaks with the child to gain an independent account and medical history for this purpose. (App. p. 219). Child informed Dr. Croswell of the specific type of physical contact involved in the abuse, including oral, vaginal, and anal penetration, including penile penetration and contact, with the last abuse occurring that same month of April 2019. (App. p. 223). As for the results, Dr. Croswell found no abnormalities in the

---

<sup>8</sup> Over Defense Counsel's objections, the State also called Shauna Galloway-Williams, a counselor and the current CEO of the Julie Valentine Center, to testify as a blind, expert witness in child sex abuse dynamics. (App. p. 350; pp. 345–346; pp. 65–68). *See infra* pp. 24–26 herein. Galloway-Williams testified regarding the behaviors of child victims of abuse and their non-offending family members, grooming, and delayed reporting. (App. p. 351–358).

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