STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Trial Judge

RECEIVED

Dec 16 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

DAVID QUINTAN JONES,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

Appellant Case No. 2024-000090

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General

KAYLEE C. KEMP
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6307

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

(Petition at 20-21).

Ms. Collins testified that she asked opened ended questions when possible, then clarifying questions as needed after that. (App. 362). At trial, defense counsel maintained his objection, though noted that he was not in disagreement with the portions of the video he considered to entail leading questions. The jury does not have a complete understanding of the Child’s testimony if the forensic interview had not been admitted. In fact, Petitioner is now permitted to examine the Child on her statements within the video and her testimony at trial, and able to query her alleged inconsistencies. The inquiry here is on the method used by the forensic examiner, which the trial court found to be a proper method in conducting the interview. Though in an abundance of caution, the trial court requested the State and the defense to agree upon a redacted version identifying the disputed leading questions.

Petitioner also contends that outside influence contributed to the answers she gave in the interview. (Petition at 21). Petitioner notes that:

For instance, Child was the first to refer to what she alleged happened as "sexual abuse" and "sex" in the interview. When asked what "sex" is, Child did not remember but upon being questioned regarding her inability to remember, she did describe it as "Well...when the....well, when a boy who puts his penis in a girl's cauliflower."

(Petition at 21).

When asked what she called “the front part of a female, a girl or a lady, the front part of a female, where you would go to the bathroom,” Child responded that she called it “Cauliflower”

when she was eight years old. (App., p. 184). Upon further questioning of the terms the Child was using in the interview, Ms. Collins queried into the Child's understanding of the terms, to which the Child offered a limited explanation. Whether sexual abuse was discussed in front of the child, or whether she was instructed or coached to say something specific, the purpose of the interview is to allow for the victim to answer questions, and upon further inquiry, explain her answers. Such will give further insight into the nature of the abuse.

Petitioner argues that the trial court erred by addressing the relevant factors in accordance with the redacted video, rather than as a whole. Petitioner specifically contends that the statute does not "permit evaluation of a video with consideration of or subject to the redactions of leading questions or otherwise improper questions by the interviewer." (Petition at 22). However, that is not the case. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175(A)(2) states "an out of court statement of a child is admissible if an audio and visual recording of the statement is preserved in film, videotape or other electronic means, except as provided in subsection (F)." Notably, the end of the statute reads that "[a]fter considering these factors and additional factors the court deems important, the court will make a determination as to whether the statement is admissible pursuant to the provisions of this section." No specification is made to redaction or cropping parts of the forensic interview and leaves the discretion of admissibility with the trial judge.

It is not the within the trial court's discretion to comment on the credibility of the victim, nor on whether the victim's statements in the forensic video are more or less likely true. The jury remains as the fact finder, and it is within their province to determine the credibility of the witnesses in each case. Here, Petitioner comments on the veracity of the Child's statement in the forensic interview, however the issue of credibility is for the jury to hear and determine. The trial court focused on the trustworthiness of the method in which the Child was examined, and

redacted portions that could be considered leading. The trial court notes that the questions do not appear to be manipulative, and the overall nature of the interview was open ended.

Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the redacted video into evidence, and properly considered the factors in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175.

II. Appellant’s argument is largely unpreserved for appeal and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the expert testimony of Ms. Galloway-Williams as a “blind” expert in the field of child sex abuse dynamics.

Issue as Presented at Trial

By way of a pretrial motion, defense counsel set forth his objections to the admission of testimony from the State’s “blind” expert. Specifically, the witness in question was Ms. Shauna Galloway-Williams, being offered as blind expert in the field of child sex abuse dynamics. (App., p. 65).

Counsel for Appellant asserted that he “always” objects to the use of blind experts, and asserted that he believed there to be “an ongoing battle with – about blind experts. . . Just so you know, I object and I don’t think it’s relevant. I don’t think it – I think it’s much more prejudicial than probative” (App., p. 65, lines 5-12). The State countered the defense’s arguments by noting that the issue of using a blind expert witness for the purposes of child sex abuse dynamics has been established on settled precedent, and specifically referenced *State v. Brown* and its progeny of cases. The State then made clear that Ms. Galloway-Williams satisfied the blind witness categorization as she had never met victim, did not know the case, and was simply being called to educate the jury as to the dynamics of child sex abuses cases, a topic that is outside the general knowledge of the jury. For that purpose, the State argued that Ms. Galloway-Williams’ testimony would be appropriately admitted. In response, Appellant argued as follows:

Your Honor, there is a real argument about it. I think the Court’s aware of numerous cases that are out there. I mean, I don’t know why you need a blind expert to come in here and testify about the dynamics of child sexual abuse. The jury’s being told, these are the charges, this is what is before the court. They’re going to judge the witnesses, they’re going to judge the credibility of those witnesses. They don’t need a expert to come in here and say these are the dynamics of what happens.

...

And what happens over and over again, just like it did last time, is they start asking specific questions that kind of feedback into the – the – into what’s going on in this case. And there’s no point in it, Your Honor. The case should be on its own basis. And all that does is bring an issue in that’s not relevant and it’s not important to how the jury can determine the facts of the case, not some expert’s devine (sic) opinion about these are the dynamics of child sexual abuse.

(App., pp. 67-68). After hearing the arguments of counsel, the trial court noted that the Supreme Court had weighed in and has ruled that such is permissible expert testimony. However, the trial court noted that the specifics would still need to be addressed later during the trial, following objection. (App., p. 68).

In anticipation of Ms. Galloway-Williams soon taking the stand, Appellant renewed his previously stated objections to her providing expert witness testimony. Therein counsel asserted the following: “I think I put it on the record the other day about Ms. Galloway-Williams testimony. And that it’s – it’s not probative to any issue. She just – just discussing psychological opinions. And she couldn’t be talking about this individual case because all that is bolstering the State’s case because she has no personal knowledge of this particular case.” (App., p. 345, lines 9-16). The State responded again, noting that it relied upon the holding in *State v. Brown*, 411, S.C. 332. However, Appellant did not support his argument with any legal authority.

The court again inquired with the State that Ms. Galloway-Williams was in fact a blind expert witness, and the State confirmed such by noting that she has never met the Victim and has never reviewed the case file. No objections to these assertions were raised. The court then confirmed that, based upon *Brown*, it would permit the expert testimony. (App., pp. 345-346).

Ms. Galloway-Williams’ testimony began by noting that she was the current and long-serving CEO of Julie Valentine Center, a non-profit that undertakes the education, care,

treatment, and prevention of child abuse and sexual assault. She then shared her extensive education, training, and work experience in the area of child abuse and assault. At the conclusion of her testimony regarding qualifications, the State offered her as an expert in child sex abuse dynamics. Appellant did not conduct his own *vior dire* as to this expertise or to the discipline in question, but merely reasserted the previously ruled upon objections. The court then qualified her as an expert over the objections raised by the defense, and specifically referenced *State v. Jones* in support of its decision. (App., p. 346-350). Ms. Galloway-William's then provided the jury with an explanation of various topics and their general commonality, with no reference to Victim or her case-specific facts. These topics included: delayed reporting, source of abuse, impact and behavior of non-offending caregivers, duration of abuse, grooming, recantation, and coping behaviors. Ms. Galloway-Williams' ended her direct examination by informing the jury that she had never met with Victim, had not read the case file, and did not possess any knowledge concerning the facts of this case. Cross-examination demonstrated that Ms. Galloway-Williams received a salary for her work as CEO of the Julie Valentine Center and was only aware that Victim had come to the Julie Valentine Center for help.

Discussion

Appellant's arguments on appeal are not preserved for appellate review because Appellant has changed the nature of the appellant arguments raised, versus the objections raised at trial. Regardless, the trial court's ruling to admit the expert testimony was in adherence to existing controlling authority, was supported by the record, and was therefore fully within its proper exercise of discretion. As such, the conviction and sentence of the trial court should be affirmed.

First, and foremost, Appellant's arguments on appeal are not preserved for review. A defendant is not permitted to argue one ground below and another on appeal. *State v. Haselden*,

353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (citing *State v. Byram*, 326 S.C. 107, 485 S.E.2d 360 (1997); *State v. Caldwell*, 378 S.C. 268, 283, 662 S.E.2d 474, 482 (Ct. App. 2008). Appellant’s arguments on appeal assert that Ms. Galloway-Williams’ testimony strayed beyond “blind” expertise and into the category of “treating” expertise. While factually mistaken in light of the record testimony (*infra*), such an argument inherently suggests that Appellant understands blind expert testimony in this field to appropriate admissible, but that Ms. Galloway-Williams’ testimony did not fall within the appropriate parameters established by precedent. The appellate argument goes on to assert that her testimony was not demonstrated to be reliable under Rule 702. Neither argument was raised via objection or otherwise argued to the trial court. Instead, Appellant objected during pretrial matters to the use of a blind expert as being inherently irrelevant (essentially a Rule 401 argument)² and overly prejudicial compared to the probative value (essentially a Rule 403 argument). (App., p. 65; p. 68). To these arguments raised at trial, counsel provided no citation to authority which supported his position. The court then noted that the law supported the admission of blind witness testimony, and essentially provided a preliminary ruling pending the witness being offered as an expert later during trial. (App., p. 68).

As the trial neared conclusion, the State called Ms. Galloway-Williams. Appellant reasserted his previously raised objections, wherein he explicitly conceded that the witness does not have personal knowledge of Victim’s case. (App., p. 345). The State cited to *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, and noted that this type of expert testimony is permissible. Following the brief arguments of the parties, the trial court specifically inquired that Ms. Galloway-Williams was in fact a blind witness. The State confirmed this by informing the court that she had never met

² Defense counsel even notes that he “always” objects to blind experts in these types of cases, further demonstrating that he is objecting to the nature of blind witnesses and not any particular circumstances of this case.

Victim and never read the case file. Appellant did not raise any objection to these assertions, and the court ruled that the testimony would be admissible, presuming qualification. (App., pp. 345-346).

Ms. Galloway-Williams began her testimony by providing her extensive resume. The record demonstrates that Ms. Galloway-Williams was the CEO of the Julie Valentine Center, a center which provides “prevention, education, advocacy, crisis intervention, and counsel services to anyone who may have been impacted by child abuse and/or sexual assault.” (App., p. 350). Ms. Galloway-Williams testified that she had served as CEO for 15 years, had acquired multiple degrees in associated fields, and possessed more than 25 years of experience in the field of sexual assault care. (App., p. 346-349). *Of note*, Appellant did not conduct any *voir dire* to address concerns regarding the reliability of the science, nor did he object in any way to her qualification as an expert. Appellant likewise did not raise objection to the specific field of expertise in question, under Rule 702. Appellant merely renewed his prior objections. Subject to those objections the court ruled that her testimony was admissible under existing precedent of *State v. Jones*³ and qualified the witness as an expert in “child sex abuse dynamics.” (App., p. 348-349).

In light of the record and the specific objections raised by Appellant at trial, he has abandoned his original arguments under Rule 401 and 403 in favor of new appellant arguments concerning Ms. Galloway-Williams’ appropriateness as a “blind” expert and reliability under

³ The court did not provide specific citation but given the specific subject-matter and the specific witness, it is fairly certain that the court was referencing *State v. Jones*, 423 S.C. 631, 817 S.E.2d 268 (2018).

SCRE Rule 702.⁴ Such are not preserved for appellate review and appellate relief should therefore be denied.

In arguendo, even if Appellant's claims were preserved for review, controlling precedent soundly demonstrates that Ms. Galloway-Williams' testimony was properly admitted within the discretion of the court. *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246 (Ct. App. 2015), abrogated by *State v. Jones*, 423 S.C. 631, 817 S.E.2d 268 (2018). First, Ms. Galloway-Williams testified that she had never met Victim, had never read the case file, and did not have any knowledge of the facts of Victim's case. The only knowledge Ms. Galloway-Williams possessed was that Victim had come to the Julie Valentine Center. Contrary to Appellant's arguments, Ms. Galloway-Williams did not offer any testimony concerning Victim's diagnosis or trauma, nor did she provide any opinion testimony or make conclusions as to Victim's case. The lack of any factual connection to Victim, and the lack of any history of treatment of Victim, is more than sufficient to establish Ms. Galloway-Williams as a blind expert. See *State v. Makins*, 433 S.C. 494, 501, 860 S.E.2d 666, 670 (2021) (upholding the decision to deny a mistrial where appropriate blind witness testimony was offered by an expert that had provided treatment and received a disclosure of sexual abuse, but the expert's testimony offered no opinion as to the credibility of victim, nor any discussion of her clinical findings concerning Victim's diagnosis or trauma.) The case at hand is, by considerable degree, a far less contentious case than *Makins* and lacks any circumstances that would diminish the appropriate "blind expert" nature of the testimony provided.

⁴ While the nearly identical nature of *State v. Jones* to this case makes further development of the record unnecessary, *Jones* also specifically instructs that the appropriate procedure to challenge such an area of expertise is to have the testimony proffered and then determine whether all of the 702 requirements have been met. As Appellant failed to object in any way pursuant to rule 702, and with the precedent available, the lack of a proffer further renders the matter unpreserved and unnecessary. *Id.*, at 272, n.1.

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